


COURT OF GlaigitAL SESSIONS_ OF THE PEACE; 

City and..0buntY of New Yoibk Part V. 

THE PEOPLE OP THE STATE op NEW .YORK, Before: 

-against.' :HONJOSEPE P.MUIQUEEN 
: 

EDWARD OISZENSKI alias EDWARD OHICHR14 
SKY. 

New York City, January 7th 
7-

Indicted for Grand Larceny in the Seoon.,,Degree, and 

Receiving, as a Second. Mena.-

Indictment filed November 17th, 1913. 

Appearances: 

For the People: 
GEORGE N. BROTHERS, ES., Assistant Di strict Attorney:. 

For Def end ant: 
• SAMUEL FELTIMAII, ESQ. 

• (A Jury is duly impaneled and. sworn.)• 

• Counsel for the defendant concedes that heretofore 

as charged. in the indictment, the defendant was convicted' 

before the Hon. Norman S. Dike, Judge in the County Court 

of Kings County, on the 11th d.,5az of June, in the year.1909, 

was thereafter sentenced. by the Hon. Norman S. Dike to 

be imprisoned in the State Prison at Sing Sing under an 

indeterminate setence, maximum ,six years and. minimum 



RTONI MAE I LA, called as a witness in behalf 

of the People, being firstsduly, sworn testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR,  BROTHERS: 

Q What is your address? A ,282 East 10th 

What litlielailbstare-rott in?' A Coal man. 

•Q Where is your place of business? 

Q On the 5th day of september, 1913, were you in Tompkl 

Square., in the City and County of New York? A Yee. 

Q About five o'clock in the afternoon? 7 A Between 

half past four and five o'clock. It was not night time, it 

A I was walking along with my vest °ter my shoulders (wit-

ness indicating with Its right hand over his Shoulder) 

one man came on one side of MR and another one on the other 

side, then one of the fellOws dropped a button and'ha 

toilet, the public toilet? A Yes. 



Q Were you seated., were you on the toilet? A Tee* 

. Where did. you 14.1.ve your vest at that. time?. A: I had 

the vest hanging over my head. 

Q: How far from you? A Just the regular height of the 

toilet where you hang your vest. 

Q Was there a door to this place? A No. 

What happened while you were sitting there? 

hold of my pants quick and my vest. 

Q First se?, What happened before you Aid. th t if anything? 
or* 

A They took my money and they ran away 

Q Wel14 who got your money? -A This-defendant 

pointing at the defendant). 

Well() tell us how he did it?( A By putting the hand 

over- the toilet into the toilet and. going to my .vest pocket 

and. taking the money (Witness indicating how they. clbsedtlu 

.atanding 
Q Where was the mano,who took your money? 

on my left side; the fellow on the left side, of 

(witness indicating with left hand). 

see him reaching over the partition? 



an lifter hiM. 

Q Was there anybody there at that time?- ik There 

were two of them. 

Q. What if anything did the other man do? A The other 

 man asked. me to pick up ft button in front of me off the floor, 

and while I went to pick it up the other man went on my vest. 

Q. What became of these two men? A They both ran away. 

Q Was ,your vest taken or only the money from it? A Only 

How much money did you have? 

%Va.'s it in bills or silver, or in what amount? A 

Four twenty dollar bills, and some :ten dollar bills, and some 

two dollar bills and some one single dollar bills. 

Q, And it was all in paper money, was it? A An. .tnpaper 

ness indicating the right inside rest pocket). 

Q When you Saw the defendani, taking your money tell the 

jury what you did? A .4-4 quick seized my vest and. my pants 

I 'pulled up my pants and. I ran after this defendant and I 

• defendant and the other man in one direction, but I didn't 

I want the other man as I wanted this man (indicating defendant) 

and I ran about half a block and I got him. 

Q Into what street did. he run? A 9th ilitreet. 



Q Did you catch him in the street or in the house? 

Top floor of the house at No. 63.8. 

• Q Did the other man get any tf your money, if you know? 

A They did scraething with their hands when they were running 

towards uptown. 

A Five floors. 

Q When you got up on the top floor did- you catch the 

defendant in the hallway or did. he go into a room? A Itir.the' 

hallway. 

Q el at happened then? A Then it hpened that one of 

my countrymen happened to be in the hallway with a woman and 

we seized hold of the def aidant and we attempted to take the 

money away from him, but all the money was not found on the 

Q Well , did you take any money from the defendant? A 

41171'found in the possession of the defendant; he had it , 

right in his leg (witness pointing to his left leg.) 

Q How was it in there? A He had placed the money inside 

his pants and some of it came through af the bottom of the 

pants on the floor. 

• Q 18 that how you. came to search inside of his panto? 



Because 2 saw hiin in the while he was rtuuting he 

was placing the money in his pants. 

Q Mao waii the woman Who was there at that time? A 

is a country woman of mine, and I don't know who she tat 

but she is an Italian. 

don't know where he is. I don't know where he works. 

Q Is here here today? A No, he le not here. He has 

come several times, but this time I couldn't 'find him. He 

went before' the Grand Jury. 

Did a police officer came? A Yea. 

Q And took you all to the station house, aid he? A tes. 

Q- Who gotthe money? A The policeman got it. 

OROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. FEMUR: 

Q How old a man are you? A Fifty-two. 

Q How long are you in this country? A Twelve years.. 

Q You say you are in the coal business and rking for 

Q, Where is your coal cellar? A 10th street. 

Q In your coal cellar? - A • At six o'clock 



- 
comes the toilet in the park. 

Q YouTcarried thatAnoney all the time, did you? 

to do butainess with, buying coal and. selling. 

Q WeIll how long a. time did you have it in your p0 

Q Where did. you take it from? A prom a. nephew .f mine. 

Q Then it was—not your money at all? A 

was my money, because I borrowed, it and. I owed. it. And I paid 

three dollars a month interest for it. 

Q, You paid. interest at 

A He trujted. me with *200, and. I owe it to him, but when I 

borrowed it, it 'was Ay- :own money.-

' And he gave you that the night previous to day th 

it -happened, - ip that right? A The night before, and. I 



And the other money was also  bills., of what denOinjatjc 
.171. 

A. They were all mixed. up, 4. tens fives, twos and. ones. 

Did you have them wraped up or in your pocket book? 

- A They were _just rolled up. 

Where did you gee the money last before you sat down in 

the. toilet? A That same moment that I sat there the money 

Q Did you count the money there? A No. I had it, in/my 

pocket. I telt—in—my- pocket,. and IT saw it in my pocket. 

You felt the money when you hung tip your .vest is that 

• Q These toilets are separated by partitions, are they 

not? A There is a very short partition. (Witness indicating. 

the height of the partition,) 

Q You told us there were two men at each side, or .one at 

each side at the .time you were sitting there? A 0 One was on 

one side and. one on the other. The one dropped the button 

towards me, and asked me U.: kindly give, it to him and. while I 

was doing so I saw the other one's 1and put over the 



Q The one that dropped the button, did you see him? 

saw him but I do not 'know him. It was a stranger. 

Q Whys do you mean to say at the time when OU, stepped 

you stopped down to pick up the buttons that at that 

time you saw the other man put his hand. in your vest? A Yes. 

Why, you couldn't see, the man who took the money? A Yes, 

on my raising the button from the floor, and. looking up, I BEM 

the man h.ild it in his hand. 

Q At the sake, time you saw the man and. his hand. reaching 

f or the money, is that right? A Right away I saw him. 

Q, Well, did the hand come over tile partition? A, Yes, on 

Q On the vest hanging there? •IL Tea. 

Q And you saw the hand on the vest, is that, right?. A I 

saw the hand on the vest. 

Was the :hand above the vest, above the bead, or just In 

the same position with the head? A A. very snail distance 

between the height of the hand apd the head, 

Q Which was above the head? A Above the head. 

Q Was the man who took your money, as you say, standing 

upon this seat, or standing on the floor? A On the ground, 

Q Did you hand the other man the button? A Yes, While 

was handing the button to-1, other man IL saw that. 

Q When you came in to sit down were thBsa_two men aitting 



CI So at that time you didn't see the faces o 'either it. 

A Tea, I 'saw them both, when they came in, and I 

saw one in the face, and I saw the other face but I didnt 

„pay any attention. 

Q You mean to say that the man who sat at your right-hand 

passed you before he sat down? A The one the defendant, 9at 

to my left first. 

Q What man did, you see first, the man on the right or 

left? A Both at  the same time. I was sitting in the -middle 

and these two Men at , the sides. 

Q And still you say that you saw both men at the same time/ 

• Q Witeh you saw the hand reaching iiit'o'the pocket; .did 

you see him extracting the 'money? A Yes. 

(4, Did. he get it. over the partition? A 'He seized 

money, over  the partition and took it awaY.. 

Q Was it taken up in the air or_ did, he take it over the 

peril tion? A Over the partition into the vest. 

Q . What was the first thing that you remember doing when 

you saw the money going over the partition? A. While my pants 

were down yet I rushed out .and. I seized hold of. theee men, 

and. I said "Please give me my money back", and. just then the 

defea.dant I had. ikt my hand, -. and just then the other man. - 

gave melons 'push and. knocked me back again and this defendant' 



Q, :but in the rc.5 

diately seized in the toilet my vest and. pulled up my pants, 

and I ran. Outside of the _toilet I -got hold. of this defendant. 

You held. with one band. on to your pants and 

that right? A I put immediately my vest on and 

Q And within three paces, • as you say, you got 

Q, Aucl you do say you caught hold, of one man? A I caught 

Who is the man? A This defendant (witness pointing to 

You will say.it was only three paces away from the 

toilet? A I first seized gold, of_ his three. paces away ,from 



the toilet; :then he 6e0APe 

Q And. at the time When you caught bold o him you say there 

were people with you, is that right? A No, 4o. 

Q Was there nobody there at the time when you ran out 

of the toilet and caught hold of the man? A No, only these 

two. The.defendant and the one that escaped. 

Q So after, as you say'; you caught hold of him he broke 

you know, he went away. 

• Q And then you ran after .him, ia defendant? A Ail the 

Tell up bow far. you were running? 

block; he ran.in ihat-No. 618. --

Q.AAd by that time there were hundreds Of peoile, with 

you? A I was going after these men, but there was hun—

dreds of people in the street. 

Q Anybody running besides you? Curiosity seekers, 

yes,. looking around.. 

Q Was there anybody running besides you at the time you 

ram after this defendant? A There were 'several running tool 

Q Who caught hold of this man the second time, the 

second time When he ran, can you tell me? A The second time 

I seized bold of him and my friend upstairs. 



Q Where were these friends? A They were in the middle 

of the street; they they were just going shopping. This woman 

was going marketing. 
A,-

. MR. FELDMAN: I object c it and ,ask to have it 
stricken out. 

'
 

TI W COURT: I will allow it to st and you asked, him 
where-they"Were. 
Q Did you know th t.these friends were on the akeetl. 

Did you have any knowledge that your friends, the 

you were sitting in the toilet, - that two of your friends 

outside on the street? A. No, I did-not. 

after you were running after this defendant? Yes. 

Are they good fr-iends of yours? A They are not friends, 

exactly, but they are honest people Who helped me to seize 

by sight, but I was Aot aware Where they resided. 

Q Did you tell them about your trouble at the time? A 



were holding him fast while I was searo2il4g for the money. 

Q _ That happened on the street? 

Is it not the fact that these friends of yours and fifty 

more people ran into  the hallway and he ran away from you? 

Q Isn't it a fact that after your friends held him tight, 

that he' broke away_ and ran into the hallway? A No. 

(I Did you see a woman at that time with this Man? I mean 

at the time when you got and caught hold of him on the streetit-

A I didn't get hint on the stritet; I said outside of the 



MR.F.#11:8/CA,N; That was in the tciilet but not on the 

street or in the hallway. 

ti Did you see anybody at the time you Caught him in the 

hallway with him? A No nobody. When the one ran away in 

one direction., and this defendant ran in another direetiow, 

I kept my eyes on him continually. I never missed sight of 

and he was running, and, all alRne I 

Q Who,-tput his hand., you or your 

from a little side pocket 

left'side'(witness indiCating towards the left aide). -and all 
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Did. you we him putting the money there at any time' 

I saw him placing the money. towards his leg when he was 

• Q And' you never lost sight or this man :a'all 'tram 

time that you left the toilet until thfe time you caught him with 

the money? A Yes, I kept my eye on him from the time, 

that I first seized hold. of him. - 

Q. And. you say you had $200 is that right? A Yes, I 

had $00. 

ROSA.LA 7ORCIA, called asawitne'ps 

of the Peoples being first duly sworn testifies 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BROTORS: 

the 5th of 

and I see a man was running. This man run, and that o 

man, you know Majella after this one (indicating de. 



litimmatnnsairrn 

• II 

7 
the baby with the big girl, d I go With thiaiman (the 

complainant), he say "Help MA. 

Q Did you see him caught/ A I caught him upstairs. 

Q Where? A On  the roof .I caught this man. 

Q °Upstairs? A Yes, I caught him by the waist by the 

coat; and I see $5 drop on the floor,by the lege, on the  

left side leg.; $5 he dropped on the floor. 

Q. Out of-whose trousers did. it drop? A Yes, below., 

Q4 Do y ou mean thi s ,maerre7:4e, 'in court?.A Yes, that man . 

Q The de cadent . at was Mr. Majella doing at that 

time? A He was hollering "Policeman! Policeman!" 

Q Hollering? A Maj ell a. 

Q Hem was Majella' a clothes at that time? A Open, and 
• 

he was doing doing like this. 

Q

 

Holding them up? A Yes. 

Q Did. you see any More than fitre dollars taken from the 

defendant? A Yes. 

Q, How much did they take away? A I was • asked to .put my 

'hand on this man, in the pants, and. I said to another 

fellow and. I said, "Thu see in th-e pants, you just see in 

the pants." And the other fellow, he put the hand inside and 

he found the money, $117, and this men, he says y "Give me 

the rest.". we counted the money, you know, and I says to him; 

"Give me the money." 

Q, Atm did. you say that'to? A I said to him. 

Q To the. deT\exidant? A yes, and I seys, "Give me the money--



"Anotb.er Jew fellow sent, me over"; he said, "To meet this • 

And we _say we will see i be has got more money, and 

we don t find any more money, only $117. 

Cr Did the policeman come? A Yes, and we gave the police-

man the money. Mr. iexquadi was the other Italian man. 

Q, Do you know where he 'is •now? 

Q, Did he live near y o'u? A 1\1() 

Did you know Mr. Majella at that time? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. FELIBIAV: 

Q You are not related to him, are you? 

Q You do not kno w his peovle either? 

know about his p'eople2 This man did not wear glasses befor'e 

de.f eadant did. past; by me.. passed right in front of me. 



„And tell us that tb.af wasthe man? 

of  him, and therefore t know it is him. 

Q .You did. not know at the time that he was running, di d 

_ you? A The complainant, with his -pants wide open, in a 

hurry told. Me that "This man robbed me of my money. 

Q In the hurry he told you, and at the same time you 

-grabbed the def endant? A Yes; I went and caught him on the 

roof, and then I brought him d-ownstairs. 

Q When you saw him the first time was he running? A Yes 

and I ran 'after him. 

were the first who caught the defendant? A Yes. 

and I even tripped, and. I got up and. I. !ran yet, and I -got him'. 

Q And you say you caught him on the roof? A Yes, from the 

roof I dragged him down t.o the top floor. 

Q, How many flights did you walk up to catch him? A. Fourth 

d some other Americ'ans afterwards which came. 

Q But you were .the first one who got hold,of his? A Yes. 

Q What did. you spy t6 him when you caught him? A' Whea 

I seized hold of him I ;aid, "Give back the money to that man;, 
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Q You spoke -in English to him? A Yea, he said "I don' 

"Well", I said, "You don't under' stand!" hen I 

spoke to him in English he said "I don't understand you", but, 

I said, "When you took the money you understood it, didn't you?" 

•Q, Then what happened? A We seized hold, of the lapel of 

the defendant's coat. I said. to him, "Now give up that money. 

And, he says, "I didn't take it, honest;'* some other Jew took 

.1.;t", and when I was dragging him down from the±'öof,on the first 

.floor then.i$5 fell out of his pants. I said, to the other 

Italian, I Said, "Place--

(Continuing) I said "Place your 4tanlis in his pants, "*be-

cause the der endant had his pants open, and. I didn't care to 

place my hand.. Both had their pants °Pin,. the complainnt 



23. 
Q Wells did the 'Othei• mart go through his pockets without 

doing anything to him.? Was there any fight 

fights no tight at all. 

THE COURT; It. depends Ron what you mean, by a fight., 

She has told you over and over again- what she did. No 

you .may call it a fight, or anything you like unless the 

question is to be what a fight is. 

Q Well, wasn'-t there a struggle? 

down, from the roof 

-Whether there was a Struggle or not makes no dlffere 

Q, Well, the other man helped you'9 

had the Pants open in the front. I. 

THE OÔUflT: She dragged him do vn from the roof. 

Q Who got the money out of his pocket's? 

had it in his legs, - between his skin and. his underwear. 

Q Did you see ,it taken out? A Sure vie saw it. 

money, and. counted 117. And he said. "There is more money", t 

, and Majella.says, "I give the other man the money", I don't 

say that. Just I see Rheni.he pulled. the money from his legs 

and m counted., atid it is $117. And before that he .said. "I. 



ain't gat no money, I •ain t got no money; 

not me, not me." 

Q You cannot be mistaken that is the Mtn? A Sure I cannot 

make no mistake. Before I told, you he had no eye glasses. 

Q What impresses you so much that that is the mantlen he 

passed. you by in the Park9 A ien I first saw him passing 

in front of me I saw his face, and when I dragged. him from the 

roof I saw him; I didn't have nozr eyes closed, I had them wide 

open, and in'the station 'house I had occ.asion to look ° at him 

again. 

BY THE COURT: 

to the station house? 

Q .How long did you hold on to: him before te policeman: 

came? A. While I brought him down'froM the roof and the hall—

Way, and into the hallway, the policeman came, and I bring 

him down to the station house. I was going.with him too.. 

HARRY R AP HAE L, called- as a witness in behalf of 

the People, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows: 

DIRECT ,EXAEINATION BY MR. BROTHERS: 

Q You are a member of the police force of this City, ar 



that is last year? A Yes, sir, 

q At what place? A On 9th street, betwean'Avenues B 

in the crowd of persons who were talking to me about this 

defendan,t was a woman, and a man, and a young man. 

Q, Have you seen any of these people here todey? A, Yes. 

Q, Who.? A There is one of theM sitting there. 

Majella, the complainant? •A The complainan ; -113nd a 

lady with the baby in her arms. 

Q That just went out of the room? A 

Q, And this def endant Was there? A Yes, sir. 

Q And he was held for the Grand Jury? r\-A yes,' sir. 

Q And you have had this money in the property clerk's 



You have counted it yourvelt? A Y 

Ptiaster. 

THE 'COURT: You ofter the money in. evidence? 

(The money J.s offered, received and. marked in evidence. 

Q LesquadI was do here under subpoena once before, Was 

Did yoU have any conversation with the defendant when 

you placed him under arrest'? A I asked hiM whose money_.„it 

was, and he said nItwas r4ine.” 

Q That, is, he said it was his money? A yes 

Q Did, you get the defendant's address from him? 

defendant's address? They got that in the station house. 

Q Do you recollect what it was? 

Q Were you in the police caurt, Officer, when he was 

arraigned before. the clerk, and his pedigree taken? A The 

detective officer Pflaster was there to give the maer. 

Q You were not there? A No, sir. 

Q That is all you know about it? A 



CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. FrII2MAN: 

Q. When you came„there was a crowd collected.? 

Q What attracted your attention to the crowd 

running towards 9th street 

-A good. many of them? 

Q.  How Many about? A 

Q, Twenty? A I c ouldn' t say how rnany, be,c au se I di dn t 

Q, well, they. did. runend collected a crowd. You mean be-

cause people were running you ran after them is that right? 
.• 

And then you saw him 

You didn't know who the complainant was at the time? A N 

IVaat was the first thing that you saw wizen you c ane 
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A The first thing I s'aw was :they had. this,defendant b 

shoulder. 

THE COTJ1T: What difference does that make.' He said 

that that women and that complainant had. this defendant ' 

1111:11 FELDMAN: He didn't say- that, your Honor. 

Qe But y'ou7Thavdt hold. of him ----they had hold of him,. who, 

A .The -c*omplainarat, and the woman, and this other 

- the three of them had hold of 

Q. Was there, any policeman?, A Yes, 

Q Who gave you the money? A tesquardi. 

Q, Isn't it a feet that the other- policemen handed .you the 

money? A No, sir. 

Q And didn't the other policemen have the defendant and• 

the money, and give it to you? ,A Lesquardi had the money, 

and. I says, "Whose money ,is th)..s," and. he said. "This ts the 

policeman said nothing to me. 
rf 

Q tho ts the other policeman? A Barney Pflaster. 

Bureau; dOtailed to the 17th Precinct, 

Q Did he go. along with you? A Yes, air. 



He went to the 'station house 'lath you? A Yes, sir 

Did you hear 'what this defendant 

was money". 

Q. Anything else besides that? A Yes, 

Q Didn't he say he was attacked by these Italians, and - 

they tried to rob him? A He never told. me that at all. 

Didn't he say he was never ,npar that toilet room? A • He 

didn't say anything at all to me. The only thing he .did say 

was that the money was his, that' all he 

Q, That's all you know of the cas-a2 A That is all I know 

of the case. 

Precinct), called as a witness for the People, being. first 

duly sworn, ,testifies as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BROTHE'RIS:, 

Tompkins square Park is .in the City and County 

York, is it? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And. there is a public comfort station • 

Q Did you -assist in the arrest of this defendant at Eas.t 

9th street on the of last september? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Were you present when he was arraigned before the clerk 

in the police"court, before Judge Nolan? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you hear him give his address therei wher.b-'he 



d :you hear him tell the' clerk? 

Q Will you refresh your recollection? 

. is correct, 406_ East 16th stre et . 

'CROSS EXAkINATIOV BY  MR FELDMAN: 

• Q Did you say you were present When this men was arrested? 

A' Yes, sir, I was in . 9th street. 

Q. Are you sure of that? A Tee 

Q Did you arrest him, or did. you not? 

THE COURT: It doesn't make an  difference whether 

he arrested hith or not. 

Was with Officer Raphael at  the time 

When, he placed him under arrest. 

Q Where was that? A In ,ast -9th street. 

• Q, Did you see where he came from? A No; . I seen 'a crowd.. 

BY TRF COURT: 

Q When you saw him7,first , where was he" A He was in 

the front f 618 East 9th street, on the street. 

Q What was going on? What did you A 

When I got there I seen this lady and another man, the 'last 

witness was on the witness stand, they had hold of him. 

Q What else was going on? Anything else? A Yes, the 

complainant - I asked what the trouble was, and the corn-

plainant told MR that this man stole -f200 from hit. 

Q Did7you see the money there? A Yes.' 



• 

. s. 

.handed it to me. Off,ieer Raphael. 

Q,Hegave you the money? A Yes si.r. 

Q Anything else asked of the defendant? A I asked him 

in the station house. 

Q. Did you ask him any questions there? A n'the station.., 

house I asked him. 

Q, No questions asked in the street there? A 

hit. the questions in the station house. 

RE-DIREpT EXAMINATION BY M. BROTHERS: 

Q What did you ask him? At asked him where he got the 

money from, and he told me that it was his own money, and I 

said, "Why did you put the money in your leg, so long as it is 

your money?" Why he told„ me he was afraid of being robbed, 

that is the reason he kept the money down in the leg •of his_ 

trousers. 

Q He was afraid of being robbed? A Yes, sir. 

13Y MR. FELDMAN: 

Q, You maan to say by the Italians who were trying 

him's'? A No, he didn't say that but he said he was afraid 

being robbed, that is the reason he plaoed the money In his 

leg Of his trousers. 

I dialted: 

PEOPLE REST. 

MR. FELDMAN: If your Honor please, I ask that the 

case be adjourned until tomorrow. 

VIIIIIIMINE.11111111111", 

sommu 



Mr: FOldiaan now opens to the Jury inbehalf 

S ZE N S KI, called as a witness in his 

own behalf, being first duly sworn, testifies as follows: - 

Q What is your address? A 406 East 16th street. 

Q, How old are you?? A Twenty-four. 

Q litheite do you live? A I live in East 16th street. 

butcher sb.cp, 335 Third avenue.. 

see this complaining witness? 

him september 5th, 1913, after five o'clock; I walked with 

my wife and some friends walked with me. 

Q where did you see him first? A I saw him first' time 

on 'Avenue B, and corner of 9th street. I want to. -explain 

September 5th I am working at 335 for Mr.,iTobeph' 

THE COURT.: Never mind what she said, now. 



Q Which pocket? A Itig.;.g, right on the left aide (in—

dicating left side trousers pocket), and here I have got $7 

(indicating right hand fob pocket), a five and a two in this 

traTraers pocket). 

sir. And we Walked together with my wife and the different 

person to a bank in Houston street, 313; and we wanted to 

put that money in the German bank, but before that a man' come 

to My house; he agked-I should write a letter to _Europe. 

to 16th street and Avenue B. After Avenue B we walked to Houston 

and right at the corner of 9th street and Avenue B we stopped 

over there, and one lady meet my wife, and she started to talk 

to her, and said "Where are you going?" 

Q What happened? Do not say anything your wife said or 

you said. What did you do? A We stopped there, and stand 

a couple of minutes and talk, and we see a big crowd running 

from the east gfde of the Park, and about fifty or sixtyyouig 



them, and. then go and. run 'around in the middle 
- 

to holler and I looked at him, and. I thought he was crazy".. 

• because he hollered.. I do,nit know what he hollered.. And he 

come close to us, and. one young fellow, I believe a Jewish fel-

low, and, he said. "Here Guinea, this Man stole your money, 

• this man stole your money." I looked at him; I do not know-

_thi s man; he is a stranger; I thought. he was crazy. I said., 

•".Varat, do, you mean?", and after that a. large, big Italian man 

hit me a.nd I fell down, and I got up _fyom the sidewalk, and. 

• Q The woman is mistaken when- she says she caught ,you on 

the roof?' A iro she never caught me on the roof,:and I ian 

in the hail, and I stopped over there, and. about five or six 

young Italian fellows jumPed behind me and grabbed met and 

two hold me. And one take a knife, and. he say,, "You son-of,a.-

bitch, I kill you", and. looking over on my pocket find here 

$7, aid take it out. And. after finding here all the money., 

and t, and they wanted to run, and. Iran behind them, 

and started to holler, and just then a big crowd come, and. 

an ofkicer, and. say "What is the 'trouble?" I talk to the 
1 

officer, I say _",Those people .robbed me." And the officer 



got my money 

young Italian man. .And the.policeman took'from that. man mane 

and.  they tas following them, and. the policemantook me ad 

carried, me to avenue 0, and. he met this officer, - I do xot 

know which one over there, still he sit dowri before 

he -gave me- to the officer, and the money, and said, "Take 

this man to the police court", and. took me to the Houston 

street police court, and the. other officer was there; and he 

say, "Who you are? What nationality?". I said, - "Polish". 

He said, "Where you got that moneir----I said "I carry it to ' 

lehe7ba0/1„ this and that place, and he asked the Italian, "HOW 

took and arrested me, and do not know nothing else. 

Q Did you steal that money? A No, 

Q Did you put your hand in his vest pocket? 

9thstreèt, corner of Avenue B I ran, I can say, about two 

houses, because I was in danger. The man took a knife 

say "I kill you", and called me a bad name. 

Q Why did you have the money? A Well, I put my mone1 



(The Court now declares a recesS until 2 o'cloCk 

first, duly admonishing the jury in accordance latr. 

EDWA RD 'CI SZENSK I, resumes the stand for further 

examination, and testifies as -follows: 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BROTAERS: 

Were you ever convicted of any other offerise than 

M11. BROTHERS': Well, I will leave off "as stated". 

THE COURT; well, tigere is nothing improper in 

It is sated by the defendant that he was convicted, of 

crime charged in this indictment,' isn't 

Not in this, but in another indictment 

y ou ever convicted, 'of any other crime? 

I was arrested but I have never been convicted.. 

were you ever convicted over in New Jersey? A No, sir. 

What is your right name? A MY right name is Chickowsky 

name of Edward Chaser? A Yes., I 



Q Dig. you ever give the name of Joseph Kaiminsky? A No. 

Q Did. you not serve 90 days in thepenitentiary in Hoboken? 

Q Beginning your sentence on the 12th of December, 1912?. 

Isn't that right? A N 

Q, Were ymknot -arrested by an officer 'and taken before 

e Ban e out .1912, Septembef 

Q So that, asl have read here, inbecember you were out 

Q, What did. you do when you came out? A Working. 

Q Where did. y ou wo rk? A 335 Third 'avenue , for Mr. Chiw-

Drd—you work for him all the time? A yes. 

Continuously, every day ? A Yes. 

How much a -week? A First he paid me $12 , 
_41 . 

few months he paid me $14 a week. 



How long-have 

liewwlong is it you have been married? A Only one 

This one child does not belong to me, because my wife,she 

had. a child and. the  husband. is dead. 

Q This other child is not your child? A Yes. 

Q, There i only one child that is your 

Q, What was the name of the bank that you were going to 

put your ñioiey in? A Here is the name, -.Deutsch Brothers 

(handing paper to Mr. Bothers). 

Q What is the number? A I think it i319. 

(1 When did you get this envelope? A Wells I get that 

envelope long ago. I have a couple of envelopes from home. 

I used. to address letters on his bank. 

Q When did you write this on the. bads of it? A Oh, I 

wrote it because I renamber what time' Iwas arre'ste4. 



Tott could. not reminber wd,thout putting it down 

TB COURT-: Read what is written on the back. 

J1 (Reading) "September 5, I was been arrested. after 5--

o clock, co. Avenue- B co. 9th street. Edward. Cheser." Is 

that your name?• A They „spell it all ways. 

Q who wrote this? Can't you write it right? A Yes, I 

• Q Why, didn't you put it down right? 

Q What Is  your right name? A My right name is Chichowsky, 

and they pronounce it all kinds of -names. 

Q Why, then, if your right name iS ChIchowsky di. d you Put 

down. Chaser on your memorandum? 

Q Have you ever been convicted of any. o,ther crizke? A Not 

,Q-- Why, then, if' your right name_is .Chichowsky di-d you put 

down Chaser on your meporaindiza? Well,' because it is very 

hard for them to pronounce my name, just th‘ same :as the 

officers 13p elled name. I could pronounce itnyself. 

Q Why did you write thatfor fun'I 

down in the cell and I write for fun. 

'Q Then you did not need. to be reminded. Of the' day you 

were .arrested -- you; remembered the' day you were arrested? 



could. notgorget. •that. 

And you wrote doWn Edwari Chbaer.Sust for fun 

might remember when you were 

sir; I wrote 

Q Did. you.have any account in that bank? 

I had. an acco"unt before, before I go to the City Prison in 

d any money .in this bank in Houston 

the first time I carry money In that 

Have you ever put any in that ban- k? 

Q, What day of the week were you arrested 

that? A September 5th,, Friday. 

You did not work that day? A yea, 



five, because it has been between 23rd. arid 24th street. 

Q Was the store closed up when you left? A Six o'clock 

the store is c lo sed. 

Q, And you quit at five? A Yes, because used. to oarr 

orders from the butcher store. 

ct. Did you have this money in the store? A No, sir, 
4. • 

Q How do you know she saved it? 

Q; Why that day? Had anything happened? A No, nothing to 

happen. She told me we take that money and put it in the 

put it in the left-hand pocket of your 

Q And why, then, .was the money do wn in78i de of y our 



drawers when you were arrested? A 

in, my pocket. 

Q Some of it fell out the bottom of your 'trousers up 

on the stairway? A No, 

Q You saw the lady on the Stand with the baby?. 

Q. she said she saw a five dollar bill drop down 

the leg of your pants. A Yes. 

Q. Did she see afive dollar bjll drop down under 

7v 
leg of your pants 

Well, did. any drop? A Yes, because I also took a two 

dollar bill and a five dollar bill from here (indicating). 

Q, No, she said. when she had. you on the roof, 

found the money, and. before this complainant cape up, she 

saw... five dollars. You said you had. no money, and then she 

saw five dollars drop down through the leg of your 1:4 ants. 

clothes? Out of the inside 

of yoitr drawers? A No, sir. 



this Italian, - a different person. 

Q Did arlibody* take It from the...inside- of your 

leg? A No, he _took it fr?..m my pocket. • 

you aid. your wife? A -Frank llondrak.  

' Q. What 11,,Eri•liv walking with you for? A He wanted pia_ to 

write a letter to Europe to his wife, and he waited, for me 

-4 -is he the man theft. helped you steal this Money from Ma-

he never helped me steal any money.' 



Didn't she come back after rou went to the police statiOn.. 

A- yes, She came back Aid found I had baen arrested. 

the first she knew about it, isn't it? 

street; I think between Attorney street -4.- I can 

Q Why, didn't you take the car down there? 

't far away; I can walk; I i a young man. 

were coming from .16th street, weren't you? 

sir, far away from 16th street you can walk. 

Q You didn't go down to the bank,. did. you? A Yes, I 

Q, You stopped. in the park? A Yes, we 

came? A I never have 
44, 

street and. Avenue B. 

one lady, because she walked to 11th street. 



That was her. name? A Marie liaklioka, 

Q Where does she five? A She live On Bast 4th stre 
_ 

Q slie was there too was she, at the time? A Yee. 

Q What did she do? A She walked past, because she 

lied before near 11th street, and she went home. 

Wiaen did you first put eye-glasses on? A 1 wear 

Because I am working there. 

Q Have you the ffic ase those glasses came in? 

Q Did. anybody suggest that iou put glasses 

• Q While yo_v: were in prison? A No, sir. 

Q- Anybody tell you that if you put •eire.glassee on 

witnesses would not recognize you in court did they? 

-never, I wore glasses very well  



Aside of your trollsers? A No my left- pocket here. 

g Did. You ever have any trouble with the lady that was 

here this morning? A No,, sir. 

Q Did. you ever see her before? A No sir. 

Q I's she the woman that caught you up in the house? 

Q Never -saw her until today? A No, sir. Maybe 

been in some different tPlace and I never see her. 

Q 1101.0 did catch you up in the house? A 

see the woman. They grabbed me and held me, and took the 

money away from me. 

Q Is that the man (indicating complainant) who said you • 

took the money from him? A Yes. 

Q What kind 'of viork did you do up in the butcher shop? A 

I used to work Saturday behind the bar and every other day I 

used. to carry orders to restaurants and all kinds of people. 

Q You said you worked up there in this butcher shop every 

day for three years. Now you are talking about some restau-



You were a delivery clerk delivered meat? A We 

-don't know delivery, because if I had a chance 

Q When some one bought meat you would take it over. to 
their place? A Yes, scmetimes. 

You didn't do any work in the shop did'you? _ A 

What did you do there? A Well, I cut meat, 1 and. 

kinds of rk, end many timei3 I used to carry orders by horse 

A Yes, I come home, and I 



A Bec ause we 

there on the corner and I see some:crowd. 

Ct Why did you run away? A Wells because a man knocked 

Q Who knocked y down? A An Italian man. 

Q Was that Mr. Majella? A No, sir, it Was a big, young. 

anybody there then? A Yes 

one hundred. people, a big crowd there. 

to me, "Here, Guinea, this man stole 'your money." He talked 

English and I understand, and this man, I donE3t know what he 

talking because he is talking his—WE language. 

Q, Did you atart.to run at once? A No, but after a man' 

come and. he say to him., "Talk to him- in Italian" - I don 

know what he asked him, bee wise I cannot understand, and he 

told him something End that man jumped and hit me in my head, 

and I fell:down on the sidewalk, and after I don't know where 

I was because he hit me very strong, and after I sot up from 

the sidewalk and run, I do not know where. 

Q 'Didn't the big arowd try to stop you? A They don't: tr 

to stop. After this whole crowd run behind me; one lady 

stood on the steps and I juited in that house : And I think 

four or five- young Italian fellows grabbed met and two held 

me, and one took a knife that long and soy "I kill you"?, 

and searched me all around, and I got a five dollar End a two 



47 
dollar in this p cketitake it from me. And they searched. m 

and. in this pocket I have $110, and. they take away from me..thlit 

money and run away, and I run behind them, and I started, to 

holler, and. just that time officer come, and I never ° see that 

Didn't you tell Mrs. La norcia that you didn't take it 

some other Jew fellow took it? A No, never. 

Q You didn't say that? A No sir, I never ta3ked to her. 

Q, When she .first grabbed. hold, of you didn' tl you say to 

her that you didn't have any money at ell? A No,sir, she 

Q You were shot once in the left-hand, weren't you' A Yes. 

Q, When was that? A In Europe. That was when I ms a boy. 

Q Row long have you been here in this country? A Seven 

(The Court now declares an adjournment to Thursday, 

January 8th, 1914, at 10:30 .o'clock a. in., first duly 

admoniskling the jury in Eccordance with law;) 



TRIAL RESMOD-. 

EDWARD OIS-ZENS 

further testifies: 

7ROS3 EXAMIN.ATIOlit BY MR: BROTHERS (Oontinued) 

Do you recognize the police officer standing here at th 

Bar, Officer Lindner of Hoboken, do' you reine]nber him? 

A I cannot remember him. 

Q Do you still say that you were not convicted, of petit 

lardeny in December, 1912, in Hoboken by Recorder McGovern, 

and that this is the of fie er who- arrested you? A I cannot 

remember that time.. Maybe I was drunk that time. 

Q Well, 'were you sent away to, the penitentiary, there for. 

you this opportunity 'to straighten the. 

can't remember if this officer arrested me. 

Cannot you remember whether you were in prison. in 

Jersey f9r 90 days or not? Now, tell the truth. A' I thinkl 



don't you remedber? 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Is that your handwriting or not? Look at it. A Yes. 

Now, you were convicted there end sent away for 90 

days in the penitentiary,"veren't you? A Yes, 

this officer asked-me if-- I remember this officer, and I 

can't remember whether he arrested ma 

Q• You mean you were drurk when you Were arrested, and ou 

do not know which officer arrested you, i8 that right? 

Q You understand that you must tell the truth? If you 

know the truth and.do not tell it, you are liable on another 

charge, of perjury. Do you understand that? A Yae., 

a vary serious crime also. Do you mean to 

• tell the Court you were drunk for 90 days? A I having been 

(The following questions d.r.e 

Q Elo you mean to say you were drunk for 90days?: A At 

b time when the office- arreeted ma I'do not know whether 



.And. you were in prison there in jersey for 90 days 
• 4 -

I do not know how many days I vas there, but I was there. 

Q And yesterday you did not tell the truth when you were 

asked that question -did you? .A Sambody told me I was 

staying there for four months, or something like that. 

Q But why didn't you4.say so yesterday? 

asked me some other things. 

FRANK MONDRAr, called as'a wdtneds in be6lf of 

the defendant, being first duly sworn, testifies. as follows: 

.(Through sworn, Interpreter samuellderatchnik) 
DIRECT EWINATION BIHMR..FELDKAN: 

Q where do you live? A .315 East 8th street 

Q. What is your business? A I'work in a stable. 

How long are you in this country? A Two years. 



at that time and I come 'over to the def endant 

,e7,in asked him to write for me a letter to Europe. I was there 

at the tie *hen the wife gave. him some • money to take i1 

• Did yoU see how much was given 

Q where did you go with him after the money, was given to 

him? A The def endant s wife asked me to accompany the do-

f end..ant 'to, the bank; we went over, to  street, through the 

Park, at the time when the defendant was arrested. 

Q, Where was he arrested.? A , I do not know. He,received 

some beating-T-rerm somebody. 

,TFIN COURT: strike out the list part. 'Where was he 

arrested, - that is the question., 

THE WITNESS: Avenue B,, corner of 9th street.: 

Q To you know what happeneci at the time he4 was arrested.? 

THE OMIT That 1s • cross examination. 

THE COURT:, I will sus.tain the- objectioti-to that. 

will mot have this man's Opinion. You can ask him if 

anything happened, and that is all. 

When he was arrested what did you see, what did. ytz 

THE. COURT: I will sustain an objection to that 



ExceAtion4 
r 

How long were you in his house that day? A About half 

Q, Did he write •a letter for you. 

THE COURT: That is a leading question. 

MR. PELDMAI4: said he cEime there to write a let-

THE COURT will exclude that questions, You do 

not have to lead.,thitt witness. 

Q, After you left the house how long wer-e you walking with 

t doesn't,appear that he walked with hitt 

What did. you do—after you left the house? 

THE COURT: Let him te.11 his story. , 

A We were walking together until he was c aught on the corner 

- 
Q Have you ever been convicted.? 

I was in the soldiers five years and. I was 



How long have y u kn 

months.' 

53. 
wn this def endant2 AbOut nine 

Q. where did you meet him? A I knew him at the time when. 

I left the church. I walked with him to his house, with the 

def Endant 

Q Where did ‘you meet him is the question? 

THE COM% where did you become acquainted, with him? 

A Prom the church z6 got acquainted with them together; 7th 

street Church near Avenue A. 

Did you see this man arrested that day? A Yes. 

Q You saw the defendant when the officer took him' A t 

do not know. 

Q, What did. you do when the defendant ran away? A I did 

not run away-. 

•Q Were you in the toilet that afternoon in Tompkins Square 

Park? A llo. We walked through the Park. I didn't go into. 

the toilet at all; I seen  a whole lot ,of peeple' jumping on 

the defendant. 

Q, Wriat did. you do when they jumped on him'? A I walked 

away. I went' awap. 

• Q, Anybody else there that you knew? A yes, there was 

another woman. She is here now, and. she seen them that time. 

Q, What is her name? A Iteklitchka. She has sseil- she 

isn't hare today. 

Q. Wells who is the woman that is here? A I do not know 

their names. 

71111111111.11111.." 
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Q, You.' &aid you waiked through the Park? 

the sidewalk on the park, to 9th street. 

Q. Did. you go thr ough the Park? 

Q You didn't see him there at all? A No. 

MR. BROTHERS: May he wait in the room, 

please, and not leave the room? 

HNIWSK Y, called as a witness 

for the def aidant, being first, duly sworn, testifies 

lows, (Thro.ugh Meratchnik as Interpreter): 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY KR. NELAN: — 

A 194 '''Orchard street, second 

Q, Do you -know- the complainant here? Look- at him 



Q Where were you at the time when he was arrested/ A' 

A Iimet the defendant in the street When I was walking to 

the Butcher store. I asked the defendant where he was going', 

seen a lot of people running out from the Park, and children; 

and I seen a man that said he, lost some money running after 

see that man again/ A yes. 

Well, how far did the defendant run? 

MR. FELDKAN: She, didn't say the defendant ran. 



What name do you, know this man by? 

Albert whet? A I forget the second name. 

• Q, Tell us, again who was rtinning: thks man ( India atin.g 

d.ef en dant ) or the other man? A No he didn't run; the 

other man ran, and he was walking with his wife. 

• Q, What did y ou see 

A This man did, not do 

this man (Indicating 

anything. I did. not anything.' 

Ho w far were you at the tim& when he was struck by 

A About the end of this court room, or probably 



CROSS •EXMINATION BY MR 

.33y:TEE COURT: 

Q Did: y-du, meet- this defendant in church, too/ A I 1i 

seen him in church, :but I did not parany attention to him. 

BROTHER 

Q How .do you know that? A I met him in the street, the 

def endant with his wife, aid I said, !'Hello,".  they said tome 

"trello." I asked where they mere g'oingi,, they said. they. were 

going to the bank, 

Q Where was that that you met them? 

THE COURT: This defendant, that person over here? 



•Q Where? A They were walking front their 

near the Park. 

Q They were in the middle of the Park when you first saw 

them? A Near the Park, about the middle of the Park, near 

Q, Where do they live, do you knovei A They were living 

somewheres in 11th street. I do not know their number. 

_ 
Q, Had you ever, spoken tp either this defendant or his  

wife' before that day? 

Q, You had never said a word tO him, had you? A No. 

Q, And that. day they stopped andtztold you they were going'. 

she did. not understand,me. 

know about that, whether he was 



3., when yoU 'saw the 170/11a11 0 .0ming alon 

husband. what was 

stated that these witnesses do not need any prompting. 

111R. FELDMAN: Yes, sir. 

of the def endant being first duly sworn testified as 

follows: (Through Interpreter Meratchnik) 

DIRE OT EX.AMMATION BY MR. FELLMAN: 

Q What is your address? A 406 East 16th street. 

You are the wife of this defendant?_ A Yes. 

Q. How long are you married? A One year. 

Q: Have you ay children? A Yes, sir; this .s my Second. 

-.I husband. I have got children from my first husband. 

Q. Do you remember the day of his arrest? 

•Q, Where were you at the time? A I was with the def endant 



Q. at did' your husband do that day? A My husband c ame 

home from work; -I told. him I got some money at home, I want 

to take it down to the bank. 'Let us take it away, 

am afraid to keep it in the house. And. then we left the house. 

We waUed, and this other gentleman walked with us. I met 

the woman, an acquaintance of mine, on Avenue B; she was 

coming from the butcher shop. where we were 

going,, and told' her that we were going to the bank s,nd de-

posit some money, and. this other gentleman walked, with us,  

together, that left the house with us together. we were 

standing and. -talking altogether, and then people were running, • 

out , from the Park-,...ome man they took out from the p ark, 

and. ran between us. One gentleman came out from the park 

and. pointed. with the finger at my husband, and, then the other 

one struck him; he fell clown and was unconscious. I was 

frightened, and. I went over to look for a policeman. I didn't 

Q, From the time that you left your home, 

that your husband was arrested, did you lose 



CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR BROTHERS: 

Q Was your husband working that day? 

THE INPERPRTER: She didn't understand the question. 

She said "I was home all the time when he wilt; w3rking 

" She di dn t answer the questi on. 

'PHE COURT: Your question has already been answered 

by her, and you canno'c cross examine your own 

FEMDMAN:. I insist she did. not answer that que-s, 

THE COURT  She stated they walked with him from her 

house, to this place, and they were standing there when 

some one came Up and struck him ad knocked him do'wn, and 

she went•,Q,yer to hunt a policeman. 

of him from the time she lett .the house, until- he was 

Q, Were you on the corner? A Yes, on the corner. 

Q where did you go to find, a policeman? A On Avenue B. 

Q You understand English perfectly, do you not? A No. 



difficult to question on any'subject.-

Q How long have you been in this country? A I am here 

about twelve yera, but I do not understand any English lan-

when you came back What 

long were you gone? A About twenty-five minuted. 

you only went about three blocks and back? Is that 

Three or. four blocks., I was walking very staowly.: 

were looking for a 15oliceman and walking very 

Did- you call out? A No, I was crying. 

Who told you your husband was arrested when yOu came 

back? A Some one came from the station house and asked 

ma Whether my name was so and so, and I told them yes, and 

they told MB that my husband was arrested. 



And You were home at that time? A 'Yes'. 

Q And that is the first you heard about it? A Yes. 

And•you never were down at 9th street and Avenue' B at 

all that 'afternoon, were you? A No. 

Q And what you have told 'us about 

husband is what he told you over in the prison, isn't it? 

the question, and as ,leading. 

THE COURT: Oh cross examination it is proper. 

11R. PEIDMA: 1 object to the fqxm of the question. 

A No, I have seen that because I was walking with him 

Q Where was your husband working that d 

working there because he told me he was working ther 

Q, Did, you ever see him working there? A- I was 

I did not see him; but I know he was working there. 



he worked every day at your 

up to and including the 5th 

A Not to my recollection. 

J 0 :.sEP Et S M I T 3: Al called as ayitiisss 

the People, in, rebuttal, being first duly sworn, testifies as 

follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION B1 ER. BROTHERS; 

You run a bu*ther shop there, do'you? 

he work for you in 'September of last year? 

be work for you at all during the. year 1913 at any 

He may have worked the first part of 1913, and the 

Q But he has testified, and k4i Wife has testified that 

shop all through the year 1913, 

of September; is that a:fact? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY ER. BROTHERS; 

Q when was he working for you? A He wab working 'some. 

before the latter part of 1912, and the first part of 1913. 

Q, Steady? A At first he worked steady, and afterwards 



P A S" Q U ALE. L A S QU AR D A, called 8.14 a witness in 

behalf of the People in rebuttal, being first duly sivorn, 

. testifies as follows, (Through Of ficial, Interpreter Moustaoki ): 

Q, What business are you in? A Coal business. 

Q On the 5th of September, 1913,  did you see the defendant? 

Near what avenue? A Between 

What ins he doing when you fir 

Did you run after him? A Yes. 



the top, the ,last floor. 

BY MR._ BROTHERS: 

He ran up into that building, did he? A 

R, And y ou . followed him? A Yes. 

What happened after you caught him? 

seized the defendant I asked him "Where is the 

the defendant says, "I have not got it", and. the woman said, to - 

me, "Search him. arched him, and I found in his right 

trousers pocket (indicating left side) two-dollard; and. then 

left foot (Witness indicates foot), five dollars, 

_balance 'of the money at the back of his left leg. 

indicates the calf of his left leg) 

Inside his clothes or outside? 

ORO SS EXAMIVAT I OE BY MR FELDMAN 

Q Do you know the complaining witness? 

by seeing him crying at that time. That i 

Q, You never saw him before that ,day? A 



coal man and he'. ia a co al. man 
e". 

Q _What were 'You doing at the time when ybte saw this In= 

" Cis'zenski running? A I had a pail of ice on my left 

shoulder. (Witness indicates his left shoulder) 

9, Were there other men besides this defendant running? 

A I only .saw this defendant running and the complainant 

after Rim. Of course there were others who were running 

behind us. 

Q, Did you see where the defendant came from? A From 

7 the park. 

Q Was he al; alone, the defendant? 

THE, COURT: The Prisbner 

A Alone he was running. 

Q, And y ott ran after him? A Yes. 

Q What did. you do with the pail of ice? A I placed it 

On the floor. 

Q And how far were you runnip.g? A About twepaces. 

Q, Are you sure this is the man that you ran- after? A 
I' -

sure it is the man. 

Q, Did. you knock him do vi? A No, 

Q Did. you hit him? A No. 
- 

Q, Did you see anybody else hit him? A-rNobedy else. 

Q Did you see a man have a knife in his hand? A Nobody. 

Q, Did you run up to the roof too? A Altogether I and 

the woman went -upstairs. 

Q When did. you see the complaining witness in this case 
- 



the last time, - when did. y u sp 

(The complainant is brought to the -Bar.) 

Q, How mahy- times were you down here? A Six or seen—Or 

eight_tirie I - I can' t remember. 

Q, And you were not here yesterdays were you? 

be0ause I was not aware that the case. was coming up . 

OJ Who brought you here todie 

ness to my house last night, and I heard that the case was 

yesterday already, I was informed, and, that it is going to be 

Q, By whom were -you informed? A My -sister. 

Q Did you speak to your sister about this case? 

e. She received ,the subpoena, the paper to come 

Did you tell- her what you saw End heard? A -/los I did 



Gentlemen of the jury: alio defendant has 

been indicted by the grand jury of Gthe crime of grand 

larceny in the second degree, as a sec nd offense. The 
90. 

indictment charges that on the 5th day of September, 1915, 

in the county of New York, with force and arms, the sum or 

$200 in money, lawful money of the United States of, Americq 

and of the value of $200, of the goods chattels and 

personal property of one Bartoni Maje lla, then and there 

being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take 

and carry away against the form-of the statute in such case 

made and provided, and against the peace of the People of 

the State of New York, and their dignity. 

The indictment further says that-prior to this 

felonious taking of. the $200 frOm Majella he had served 

a term of- three to six years in State Prison for the crime 

of burglary. in the second degree, having been sentenced to 

prison by Judge Dike in the County of langs. The 

. defendant has admitted that, and that part of the indict, 



find him guilty,as a second offense. 

• You Understand that there is a sharp line of 

. division between the power of the Court, and your powers 

°and duties-. We are all subject to the law. That is 

what this court represents, - the law. And we cannot make 

laws for ourselves. The law is binding on every one in 

the community; it is binding on the Court and binding on 

you. And it is your duty to take the law from the Court 

without question, and then to determine the facts in the 
_ 

matter from the evidence and to decide What witnesses, if 

Those are your powers, and they 

are great Powers, and very important. There is no work 

that you will ever be called upon to do as citizens in 

this, republic, of greater importance than the work you - 

are doing here today. 

It is most important work, because on the way 

that you do it depends not only the fat fit of individuals, 

but the fate of the State itself, and if the law is not 

obeyed by jurors, then our whole system of government is 

farce. So that you gentlemen muat approach the discharge 

of your duties with.a full sense of your responsibilities, 

with a full sense of the dignity and impprtance of your 

work. - You may disregard law and evidence, and become 

anarchistic if you wieh to, but if you do desire to be 

good Americans, and do your duty, you have to 



•  be very careful ,and keep the law in mind, and five an 

* honest verdict. 

Now that is all the law asks, 'Every one. of you. 

gentlemen, after you listen to this evidence here, and.  

weigh it in the light of the law, Will know what you 

believe about it'. will know whether you believe the 

complainant or. not, Dr whether you believe the defendant 

plainant's witnesses, or the defendant's witnesses, and -

if you give a verdict ao.cording toyour:honest belief, 

&verdict that your reason and conscience approve of, 

then you are doing your duty. -But, if you believe one we 

and vote another for secret reasonsl.or for reasons of 

iprejudice4 or for any other reason, 'why' then you are doing 

wrong, committing a great crime. 

So I say, therefore, we are all bound by the law. 

The law requires me, -- my duty is to tell itiu what the la 

in thie case is. In the first place, this defendant i 

at all. An indictment amounts.to nothing as proof, -it 

is not intended as evidence. It is merely the form in 

criminal procedure 'by- which a,defendant. is brought here 

charged with a crime, and it is one of the methods which 

the American n2ple have adopted to protect persons charged, 

with crime, to give them a fair trial. The law requires 

the indictment to contain a plain statement of the charge 



NOM f.q 

' against him, and nothing could be plainer,than the charge 

here, that he took $200 from Mr. Itajella_and ran off with 

Any man could understand that; the defendant under-

stands it. And then the other charge, that before he did, 

that he was in prison on conviction of a previous crime. 

There is nothing difficult about that. It is put in 

writing so the defendant may know exactly what the charge 

, 
And now 'he  is here for trial, and the People are 

Obliged to assume the burden: of prOVing that he i guilty.' 

They do not require him to prove his innocence, .but. the , 

People of the State of New York in their -intention, to be 

fair have said unless the evidence convinces you that this : • 

man is guilty jaeyond a reasonable doubt, he must be 

acquitted. The -People have  /3E1113 d witnesses here, .and 

they have told you their Story-in—their own•way. It 16 
your duty to determine whether by their manner,' by their . 

simplicity, by the clearness of their statement and their 

demeanor, they have impressed you to the extent that you 

believe them, or not, and after you have weighed this 

testimony and the testimony of Edward Ciezeneky and hie 

witnesses, you must decide whether he is guilty or not. 

Every one of you 'will know in 'his, heart what impression, 

as I said .before, the testimony produces on him, and all • 

he is bound to do is to declare/ that impression. 



The law of larceny is very plain. larceny is the 

taking of property with felonious intent. There are 

two elements in it: First the taking of property. You 

knew our law is intended to encourage men t 

thrifty, and you can imagine what self-denial and what toil - 

the complainant had to undergo to save $200, You know 

he said he borroked that from his nephew to help -him in his 

business, but it was his 200, and he was responsible for 

it, and the law _of this State says that a man who saves 

the money shall be entitled to enjoy it, and that no man 

oan take it away from him with criminal intent unless he is 

willing to' be a criminal, - that the taking of money from 

one person by another with felonious intent is a crime.' 

So the taking is the first thing the People have -to 

prove, and the second is the intent of the taker. If you 

should walk int() a restaurant and put your coat on a rack, 

and then when coming out take somebody elsels coat in 

mistake for your own, that would not be a crime. You 

would not have any felonious intent, although you would 

take the. property. But, if kgmebody else saw your coat 

there and liked it better than his coat, and took it, 

knowing that it was youm,--and walked off with-'iti_th 

that would be a crime,' because that taker intended to 

prive you of the property and use it hilbself: 

So the law requires these two elements: the taking 

of personal property, and second, by one who has a felon-

ious intent, - the -intent to deprive the owner of it, and 



appropriate it to the use of the taker, or any one Other 

than the trUE owner.-- That is very -simple. 

Felonious intent must be judged' from acts. Intent 

is locked up in the mind, but I do not thinkLany of you 

gent lemon would have any doubt if you were riding in the 

subway and a man put his hand in your pocket and took 

$200 and ran away with it. You mould not for an instant 

doubt what he intended to do; you would not think he 

wished to help you at all, and you would not have any 

doubt that he meant to keep your'§money and deprive you of 

it. 'Sp you can judge felonious intent by acts. You can 

see $200 or $100, but felonious intent is locked up in his 

mind, and the only way you can judge of his intent is by 

what he does. That is a plain and ordinary rule. 

So, then, you have to decide first here whether any 

one took any money at all. • Do you believe Majella?' Was 

he in the place? Did he remove his vest, and did any pne 

take the money from him? And if you have a reasonable 

doubt about it, then you must acquit this defendant, be-

cause the People- must first prove there was a taking of 

Second, the intent of the taker Majella says he 

didn't ask any one to take the $200, and if any one took 

iti as he has said, from his vest while he was engaged in 

the comfort station, and ran off with it, you have the 

right to find that the person intended not to help Majell 

with the money, but to use it for himself, or somebody 



other than MAJella. In other word4 there i evidence 

from which you may find that there was a taking, and a 

to loni Cue taking, if; you wish. 

If the evidence satisfies you, as honest merit that 

there was a taking here, and  a felonious taking, and 

therefore a larceny was committed, then the question. is 

does the evidence satiefy you by whom the money was taken? 

•Majella says that this man took it, that he saw him take 

it, that be was sitting in the comfort station, and  that a'4 

man who was on the other side dropped a button,' and asked 

the complainant to pick it up. That he stooped to -Dick 

up the button and that this defendant put him. hand ovpt 

and took this money out of the inside vest pocket, and ran 

off with it, and that he Majella immediately gave chase; 

that he ran at once, without waiting to arrange his 

clothing. You remember that the Italian woman who was not 

in the court room when he testified said that Majeila did 

-not have his pants buttoned and that the defendant did 

not 

However, you must decide which of these witnesses 

will believe; you have to pass on the credibility of 

You understahd that the law does not think that you 

have any greater wisdom this month than you had last month, 

or will have next month when your term of duty has 

expired. You do not get any inspiration whc_m you become 

Jurors. But the law asks you to use your own good common. 



4-1 

sense and judgmerytt. the same.. att8 you use in the important' 

affairs of your awn life. A business man every day hag 

to decide what is a. good thing or a bad thing for his 

business; ladies have to decide between what is 466 or 

bad in the conduct of their households; you he to use 

your common sense, and if. you do that, it is all that the 

1.= requires in the matter, and whatever your verdict may 

be, it is an honest verdict. 

While t14.ere is no rule, -a.s I said, which binds you 

in the determination of the credibility of witneases, 

there are , some circumstances which may be taken into con.' 

siderat*on. For instance, if you have a man who has never' 

been convicted of crime, telling one story, and* .one who has 

been convicted of crime telling a different story, you may 

take into consideration that fact and that condition in 

determining which one of the two you will give credence 

to. The word credibility means worthy of belief. Wha.Pt 

witness here was worthy of belief? And that bears, as you 

know, to some extent on the character of the witnees, and 

the witness who has been in prison, as I said before, may 

have that fact considered in determining his' credibility. 

You are not bound to reject his testimony on that account, 

but you may consider it and weigh it, and that is why the 

Assistant District Attorney asked him as to his imprison-

ment in jail, and yotl know that he denied that yesterday 

positively and unqualifiedly, and today admitted it: If he 



forgot it yesterday, as he may have done, why, of course, 

if a man forgets, he -cannot be accused of perjury, but the 

law is if a'inan knows the answer to a question on a 

material point I:n the case,, and wilfully lies about it, 

conceals his knowledge, or denies the truth, he is guilty 

of a crime, and the juror i in such a case may reject all 

the testimony of such-a witness,. although they are not 

olgtiged to. You may believe, however notwitb.etanding 

the fact th,at he lied, and that he .may have told the truth 

about the other matters to which he testified. It is , 

something that you, as honest pen, Must take' into. account 

in determining how much weight you will give his testimony; 

how 'bredence you will gi him. 

You May consider the intelligence of the witnesses. 

Yo u will decide what wi tale ssei here were intelligent, gave 

clear, prompt answers, and seemed to know what, they were 

talking about, and what witnesses evaded' every question, 

That is another point you may take into account and decide 

what weight you will give to them, if there were such 

have to decide why Majella pursued this man. He says he 

picked him out of all the men there. The defendant's wife 

says they came up and struck him. Why did they strike 

him? Majella said' he went after him because he saw him 

take his money, and that was the most powerful motive 

Vajella had to go after him. You will have to decide 



e.—

whether Majella was mistaken or not, - Whether any one took 

his money away or not, and whether the defendant is the 

person1Who.took it, if you find that it was taken. 

You must decide whether or not to believe thie 

woman who came here this morning, and who was not here 

yesterday, -'whether the woman's story is true, or whether 

majelaa's story is true. You will have to decide :howmuch 

weight you will. give to all their testimony, and what 

motive,, if any, they had. And ,so with the defendant's 

witnesses: whether hip relatives and friends have any 

motive to 'te3,1 the truth, or not, or whether they have a--

motive for lying; and you will have to decide whether this 

man ifaCof such a character, that, having been in prison 

once, he possesses a motive strong enough to make him tell 

you a stoyy that is not true, You have to talce. that into - 

account, whether he has a very strong motive to lie, and 

you have to decide whether he has lied or not in any 

matter, or whether he is lying on the whole story. In 

other words, you will have to decide who is telling the 

truth here. The same test must be apTilled to -all the 

witnesses on both sides. 

You may believe all or any part of a witness's 

testimony. The law requires you to do your work honestly 

and without any thought of doing anything but your duty. 

You have no power to disregard the law; you have no power 

to be swayed by prejudice or by sympathy; you have no right 

to be influenced by such motives. It ikyOur sworn duty 



to take thiS'evidence and weigh it carefully, and view It• 

inthelight of the 1mi, and then, if your minds are firmly 

conviiided to a Moral certainty, : as honest Men, that this 

defendant took OW from Mr. Majella4 with intent to 
deprive Majella of it, and appropriate it to his awn use 

he is guilty Of larceny -in the second degree. That is 

what proof beyond a reasonable doubt means. The statute 

does not require the People ,to prove him guilty to a-

, mathematical Certainty. The law declares that unless this. 

man, is'found to be guilty-of the offense beyond a reason-. 

• able. doubt -he 'must be acquitted. A reasonable doubt means 

the state of mind when an honest juror is  not Satisfied • 

by  the evidence that' he is guilty to a moral certainty. 

It is. not necessary to show that his. hand. was caughtliii 

the comp'lainant's pocket. Crimes are committed by stealth 

It is impossible to have a photographer present to see them 

certainty, or absolute certainty. Such proof is rarely, 

If ever, possible. But the law does require that the 

-testimony must satisfy the minds of the jUry that, the 

defendant is guilty to a moral certainty. That is the 

condition of mind which the law requires the People to 

produce in your mind here, by the evidence. In other 

words, you take and weigh all the evidence; -and you must 

not go outside of the evideni your.must not speculate what 

might have 1e en proved, or What might not have been proved, 

but if all the evidence on both sides satisfies you that 



Majella was in that place, that he had $200 in hi 

that this defendant took it; and ran off with it, then he 

is guilty of grand larceny, in the 8econd degree. If 

you have a reasonable doubt on any of these eletents, then 

And then if you find him guilty of larceny in the 

,zeoond ddgree,you must take into account his admisston 

that he has been previously convicted of the crime set 

forthnin the indictment, and you may find him guilty as a 

secctind offender. That is a provision of the 

Peulle have deemed it wise to make tfiat'law, and you cannot 

question it. The Court has. to take the law as he finds 

it So: you may find this defendant guilty as charged in 

the indictment, of grand larceny in the second degree, as 

THE COURT: Now, if you gentlemen have any dispute, 

or difference of opinion as to what has been testified to, -

you may have the evidence read to you. Meanwhile ydu will 

retire and discuss the evidence. 

(The. jury now retire to deliberate upon a -Verdict, 

and—mvoen-their return render a verdict finding the 

defendant guilty of the crime -of grand larceny in the 

second degree as a secknd ofiVnomw) 



STATE OF NEW 
:ssi 

City and County. of New York V 

M. F. HASibURST, being duly sworn -deposes -and says: That 

she is A public "stenographer and has a place of business at No. 5 

'Beekman Street', in the City, County and State of New York, and she 

-has been stich public stenographer for the last AS' 'years.. That 

she was well acquainted with Stewart Idddell, who Was one of the 

official stenographers of the Court of General Sessions of the 

:Peace in and for the, County of New York, and that for a ijeriod, of 

years preceding his death on August 8, 1914, she acted 
ashis

 and transCribed stenographic -notes of teStiMony taken 

tY. the said Stewart Liddell, and that' 'She is familiar with the system 

or shorthand used by the said Stewart Li44ell.. That by reason., Of 

her ability to transcribe the stenographic notices of the said Stewart' 

'Liddell she received from Peter P. McLoughlin, an official stenographer 

of said Court of General Sessions, an order to transcribe the testi-

mony in the case of the People vs. Edward Ciszenski alias Edward 

Chichousky which was ta,,,en by said Stewart Liddell as official 

stenographer and in which she was iriformed a notice of appeal was 

filed -by the said. defendant. That pursuant to the said order she 

transcribed the minutes of the testimony in such case, and in doing 

so de was aided by an abstract of the testimony in said case which-

w.s filed in the office at the Clerk of said Court by the said Stewart. 

testimony is an accurate and true transcription of the stenographic 

notes of the proceedings on said 

Sworn to before me this ) 
110 day of April 1915. ) 

ome9nk. 
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